PETITIONER'S BRIEF OF THE DEFENDANT, RYAN L. HENSON 

Comes now the Petitioner and respectfully provides this honorable court with his petition 

for appeal. The petitioner asserts to assignments of error: 

A. 	 The Berkeley County Circuit Court erred and abused its discretion by failing to grant the 

Petitioner's motion for judgment ofacquittal and vacating the jury verdict because the 

evidence was clearly insufficient to prove the Petitioner's guilt. 

B. 	 The Berkeley County Circuit Court erred by not providing a jury instruction pertaining to 

the State's disposal of the scope before DNA testing was performed.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

This petition is an appeal from a criminal trial in the Circuit Court of Berkeley County. 

The Petitioner was indicted on one count of burglary, three counts of robbery in the first degree, 

three counts of assault during the commission of a felony, and one count of conspiracy. Several 

motion hearings were held on April 11,2016; April 14, 2016; April 22, 2016; and April 25, 

4 




2016. A jury trial began on April 27, 2016 and ended on May 3, 2016. The Petitioner was found 

guilty of all counts. 

On July 18, 2016 a sentencing hearing was held. At the hearing the Court heard oral 

argwnents regarding post-trial motions. The court denied the Petitioner's motion for Judgement 

of Acquittal and the motion for a new trial. The Court then proceeded to sentencing. The 

Petitioner was sentenced to 

COUNT 1: BURGLARY - ONE TO FIFTEEN (1-15) YEARS 

COUNT 2: ROBBERY IN THE FIRST DEGREE - EIGHTY (80) YEARS 

COUNT 3: ROBBERY IN THE FIRST DEGREE - EIGHTY (80) YEARS 

COUNT 4: ROBBERY IN THE FIRST DEGREE - EIGHTY (80) YEARS 

COUNT 5: ASSAULT DURING THE COMMISSION OF A FELONY - TWO TO TEN (2-10) YEARS 

COUNT 6: ASSAULT DURING THE COMMISSION OF A FELONY - TWO TO TEN (2-10) YEARS 

COUNT 7: ASSAULT DURING THE COMMISSION OF A FELONY - TWO TO TEN (2-10) YEARS 

COUNT 9: CONSPIRACY TO COMMIT ROBBERY - ONE TO FIVE (1-5) YEARS 

Count 8 of the indictment, Attempted Murder, was previously dismissed by the State. 

The 80 year sentences for Counts 2,3, and 4, Robbery in the First Degree, shall be served 

concurrently with each other. 

The sentences for Counts 1,5,6, 7, and 9 shall all be served consecutively to each other 

and consecutively to the sentences for Counts 2, 3, and 4 (See A.R. 78). 

Additionally, at the sentencing hearing Defense Counsel, Steven Greenbaum, was 

permitted to withdraw his representation of the Petitioner and the Court appointed Michael J. 

Sharley to handle the Petitioner's appeal. 

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

A. There was insufficient evidence presented at trial for a guilty verdict. The State's entire 
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evidence revolved around the testimony of Totianna Etheridge. 

B. 	 The Petitioner's rights against double jeopardy was violated when the prosecutor indicted 

him on three counts of robbery instead of one. All of the property taken from the scene 

belonged to just one of the alleged victims. 

C. 	 The Berkeley County Circuit Court should have provided the jury with an Osakalumi 

instruction pertaining to the rifle scope found in the driveway of the Basore house. The 

State did not do DNA testing on this rifle scope, nor did they preserve the scope for the 

Defense to examine. 

D. 	 The Berkeley County Circuit Court erred by allowing the prosecutor to admit gruesome 

photographs which prejudiced the jury against the Petitioner. 

E. 	 The prosecutor should have been admonished by the Court for making prejudicial 

statements against the Petitioner in the media and a change of venue should have granted. 

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION 

Due to the nature of the crime alleged and the length and severity of the sentence, 

the Petitioner requests oral arguments. 

ARGUMENT 

A. 	 The Berkeley County Circuit Court erred, and abused its discretion by failing to 

grant the Petitioner's motion for judgment of acquittal and vacating the jury verdict 

because the evidence was clearly insufficient to prove the Petitioner's guilt. 

The function of an appellate court when reviewing the sufficiency of the evidence 

6 



to support a criminal conviction is to examine the evidence admitted at trial to determine 

whether such evidence, if believed, is sufficient to convince a reasonable person ofthe 

defendant's guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. Thus, the relevant inquiry is whether, after 

viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the prosecution, any rational trier of 

fact could have found the essential elements of the crime proved beyond a reasonable 

doubt. SyI. Pt. 1, State v. Guthrie, 194 W.Va. 657,461 S.E.2d 1637, (1995). 

A criminal defendant challenging the sufficiency of the evidence to support a 

conviction takes on a heavy burden. An appellate court must review all the evidence, 

whether direct or circumstantial, in the light most favorable to the prosecution and must 

credit all inferences and credibility assessments that the jury might have drawn in favor of 

the prosecution. The evidence need not be inconsistent with every conclusion save that of 

guilt so long as the jury can find guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. Credibility 

determinations are for a jury and not an appellate court. Finally, a jury verdict should be 

set aside only when the record contains no evidence, regardless ofhow it is wighed, from 

which the jury could fmd guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. To the extent that our prior 

cases are inconsistent, they are expressly overruled State v. Guthrie. 

The State's case came down to the testimony ofTotianna Etheridge, the ex

girlfriend of the Petitioner. She testified that the Petitioner had told her that he, Jonathan 

Physioc, and Kerri Reigh committed burglary and robbery at the house of Robert Basore, 

William Basore, and Michael Basore. However, she was not present and was only 

testifying to what the Petitioner, Ryan Henson, had supposedly told her. 

More importantly, when the Basores testified, they could not identify either of the 
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two Defendants. In fact, the Basores testified that they thought the assailants were 

members oftheir own family who knew that Michael Basore kept money in a safe in the 

house. When Deputies Philip Butcher and Michael St. Claire testified, they stated that 

they investigated the family members identified by the Basores. However, on cross 

examination they testified that the investigation of these family members was very 

minimal and that they did not investigate the alibi given to them by these family 

members. 

Additionally, when the Basores described the assailants, they did not match up 

with the Defendants on trial. The height and the weight that the Basores gave were 

dramatically different from the height and weight ofMr. Henson and Mr. Physioc. In 

other words, there was no evidence besides the testimony ofMs. Etheridge that ties Mr. 

Henson and Mr. Physioc to the crime. 

The Court must take the evidence in light most favorable to the State when 

considering the sufficiency of evidence, but based on inconsistencies in the evidence and 

the lack of investigation by the Sheriff's Department of other suspects, this Court must 

find that the trial lacked sufficient evidence to uphold the verdict of guilty against the 

Petitioner. 

Wherefore, this Court must find that there was insufficient evidence at trial to 

sustain a verdict of guilty against the Petitioner and grant the Petitioner a new trial. 

B. 	 The Berkeley County Circuit Court erred by not providing a jury instruction 

pertaining to the State's disposal of the scope before DNA testing was performed. 
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When the State had or should have had evidence requested by a criminal 

defendant but the evidence no longer exists when the defendant seeks its production, a 

trial court must determine (1) whether the requested material, if in the possession of the 

State at the time of the defendant's request for it, would have been subject to disclosure 

under either West Virginia Rule of Criminal Procedure 16 or case law; (2) whether the 

State had a duty to preserve the material; and (3) if the State did have a duty to preserve 

the material, whether the duty was breached and what consequences should flow from the 

breach. In determining what consequences should flow from the State's breach of its 

duty to preserve evidence, a trial court should consider (1) the degree of negligence or 

bad faith involved; (2) the importance of the missing evidence considering the probative 

value and reliability of secondary or substitute evidence that remains available; and (3) 

the sufficiency of the other evidence produced at the trial to sustain the conviction. State 

v. Osakalurni, 461S.E.2d 504 (W.Va. 1995). 

During the investigation of the alleged crime, a scope to a rifle was found in the 

driveway to the house. It was determined by the deputies that this scope belonged to a 

rifle which was taken from the house. The State sent the scope to the lab for fingerprint 

testing, but no fingerprints were found on the scope. The State did not perform DNA 

testing to see if any DNA was on the scope. After fmgerprint testing was performed, the 

deputies discarded the scope without allowing the Defendant the opportunity to inspect 

the scope or have it tested for DNA evidence. 

During the trial, Defense Counsel asked Deputy St. Claire if DNA testing was 

ever performed on the scope. The Deputy responded that after fmgerprint testing was 
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performed, the scope was damaged so he threw it in the trash without any further testing. 

This scope should have been preserved as evidence. Only a picture of the scope was ever 

presented to the jury; not the actual scope. Additionally, DNA testing on the scope would 

have been very important to the case because the Basores' claim that the assailants were 

family members and not the two Defendants on trial. 

If the scope belonged to the rifle which was taken from the house by the 

assailants, then there would be a possibility ofDNA evidence from the assailants on the 

scope. The State has a duty to perform both fingerprint analysis and DNA analysis on the 

scope, or at the least, the scope should have been preserved for inspection by the Defense. 

The Court should have provided the jury a jury instruction much like the one 

provided in the Osakalumi case pointing out that the State failed in the duty to preserve 

critical evidence that could be used in the trial. The jury could have then had the 

opportunity to consider if the scope was critical to the case and if the State disposed of 

this critical evidence. 

Therefore, this Court should grant the Petitioner a new trial and instruct the trial 

court to provide the jury with an Osakalumi instruction. 

C. 	The Berkeley County Circuit Court erred by not dismissing Count 3 and 4 of the 

indictment on grounds that it violates the Defendant's due process rights against 

double jeopardy. 

The West Virginia Supreme Court of Appeals has held that an attempt to rob a 

store by presenting a firearm and leaving without taking any property can[not], in light of 
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double jeopardy principles, result in multiple convictions of attempted aggravated 

robbery for each clerk present in such store State v. Collins, 329S.E.2d 839, 174 W.Va. 

767 (1984). 

Count 3 of the indictment charged the Petitioner with aggravated robbery by 

taking by force items ofvalue: $250.00 in currency and a tool box containing coins from 

William Basore. Count 4 of the indictment charged the Petitioner with aggravated 

robbery by taking by force items of value: $250.00 in currency and a tool box containing 

coins from Michael Basore. The evidence in this case shows that the $250.00 in currency 

and the tool box containing coins belonged to Robert Basore, not William Basore or 

Michael Basore. Robert Basore was the owner of the house and William and Michael 

Basore are his sons. Since the property items taken from the house did not belong to 

William Basore or Michael Basore, they are not victims of the robbery. Only Robert 

Basore is a victim of the robbery and therefore only one count of robbery should be on the 

indictment (See A.R. 1). 

The case at bar is very similar to Collins in which the State indicted the Defendant 

on a robbery charge for every clerk and customer in the convenience store. The Court 

held that since the property taken from the convenience store only belonged to the 

convenience store, there could only be one count of robbery. In this case all the property 

belonged to Robert Basore and no property was actually taken from William Basore or 

Michael Basore. Therefore there should have been only one count of robbery in the 

indictment. 

The State tried to avoid double jeopardy by amending the indictment by removing 

11 

http:329S.E.2d


the words "all the property ofWilliamlMichael Basore." (See A.R. 1). However, this 

substantially alters the indictment and was not just a clerical error. If the State wanted to 

amend the indictment in this fashion, it should have resubmitted the case to the Grand 

Jury. Even the removal of the "clerical error" does not correct the problem of double 

jeopardy. The fact still remains that all of the items removed from the home belonged to 

Robert Basore. There should have been only one count of robbery and not three (See A.R. 

25). 

Therefore, the Court must grant the Petitioner a new trial and remove Counts 3 

and 4 from the indictment. 

D. The Berkeley County Circuit Court erred by not excluding gruesome photographs. 

The court may exclude relevant evidence if its probative value is substantially 

outweighed by a danger of one or more of the following: unfair prejudice, confusing the 

issues, misleading the jury, undue delay, wasting time, or needlessly presenting 

cumulative evidence. Rule 403 West Virginia Rules of Evidence (2016). 

The admissibility of photographs over a gruesome objection must be determined 

on a case-by-case basis pursuant to Rules 401 through 403 of the West Virginia Rules of 

Evidence. State v. Derr, 192 W.Va. 165,451 S.E.2d 613, 1996 W.Va. LEXIS 25 (1996). 

The Petitioner, in the case at bar, was not charged with a physically violent crime. 

The crimes of robbery, burglary, and assault in commission ofa felony do not have the 

associated requirements of proof of a physical injury. The only crimes listed in West 

Virginia Code §61-2-1 which requires proof of a physical injury are battery, unlawful 
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wounding, and malicious wounding. The Petitioner was not charged with either ofthese 

crimes (See A.R. 46). 

The bloody photographs are completely irrelevant to the crimes of robbery, 

burglary, and assault in the commission of a felony. They do not assist the jury in 

determining whether any of these crimes actually occurred and would only allow the State 

to use these bloody photographs to unfairly prejudice the Petitioner in the eyes of the jury. 

Wherefore, this Court must grant the Petitioner a new trial and exclude the 


gruesome photographs. 


E. The Berkeley County Circuit Court erred by not removing the prosecutor. 

The prosecuting attorney occupies a quasi-judicial position in the trial of a 

criminal case. In keeping with this position, he is required to avoid the role of a partisan, 

eager to convict, and must deal fairly with the accused as well as the other participants in 

the trial. It is the prosecutor's duty to set a tone of fairness and impartiality, and while he 

may and should vigorously pursue the State's case, in so doing he must not abandon the 

quasi-judicial role with which he is cloaked under the law State v. Kendall, 639 S.E.2d 

778 (W.Va. 2006). 

On April 21, 2016 an article appeared in the newspaper, The Journal, in 

Martinsburg, West Virginia, in which the assistant prosecutor in this case at bar is quoted 

by the reporter commenting about this case. The assistant prosecutor is quoted as saying 

"This helps our case. The reason we were able to arrest the others was because of her 

statements to the police, but they are not admissible because they are hearsay. Without 
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her testimony, we would have a difficult time proving the case." (See A.R. 10). 

Prosecutors have a quasi-judicial role to be fair and impartial before the trial. 

They should not try the case in the media and attempt to taint the jury pool. This will 

cause any defendant to have problems obtaining a fair trial. The Court should have 

admonished the assistant prosecutor for making statements in the media that obviously 

were meant to prejudice the Defendant in the eyes of the jury pool. 

However, Defense Attorney should have moved for a change of venue and the 

Court should have granted this motion. To warrant a change of venue in a criminal case, 

there must be a showing of good cause therefor, the burden ofwhich rests on the 

defendant, the only person who, in any such case, is entitled to a change of venue. The 

good cause aforesaid must exist at the time application for a change of venue is made. 

Whether, on the showing made, a change ofvenue will be ordered, rests I the sound 

discretion of the trial court; and its ruling thereon will not be disturbed, unless it clearly 

appears that the discretion aforesaid has been abused Syl. Pt. 2, State v. Wooldridge, 129 

W.Va. 448,40 S.E.2d 899 (1946). Syl. Pt. 2, State v. Williams, W.Va., 305 S.E.2d 251 

(1983). 

These comments by the assistant prosecutor were made only five days before trial. 

They would have been fresh in the jury's mind. The only way to cure this problem 

would have been to admonish the prosecutor and grant the Petitioner a change of venue. 

Then the Petitioner would have been given the opportunity to have a fair trial with a jury 

pool that was unburdened by prejudicial comments by the assistant prosecutor. 

Therefore, this Court must grant the Petitioner a new trial with a new prosecutor 
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and a change ofvenue. 

CONCLUSION 

This Court must overturn the guilty verdict and grant the Petitioner a new trial. 

There was insufficient evidence presented by the prosecutor at trial for a guilty verdict. 

The Petitioner's rights against double jeopardy were violated when the prosecutor 

indicted him on three counts of robbery instead of one count of robbery. 

The Berkeley County Circuit Court should have provided the jury with an 

Osakalumi instruction pertaining to the rifle scope found in the driveway of the Basore 

house. The Berkeley County Circuit Court also erred by allowing the prosecutor to admit 

gruesome photographs which prejudiced the jury against the Petitioner. 

The prosecutor should have been admonished by the Court for making prejudicial 

statements against the Petitioner in the media and a change of venue should have been 

granted.