I. RESPONSE TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 


1. 	 When viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the State and giving credit to all 

inferences and credibility assessments to be drawn from same, a rational trier of fact 

could find that the essential elements of the Petitioner's crimes, prosecuted as a principal 

in the second degree, were proven beyond a reasonable doubt. 

2. 	 A jury instruction addressing a rifle scope discarded by the State's lead investigator was 

not necessary where the State relied on witness testimony and not the scope for its 

substantive proof of Petitioner's guilt and the investigator held a good faith belief that it

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

was charged. Tatianna Etheridge, who had knowledge of details of the crime that were not 

otherwise known to the public, testified that Petitioner told her of his involvement, including 

beating the Basore men and the accuseds' inability to secure the safe they intended to steal. Ms. 

Etheridge's testimony was corroborated in a variety of ways. 

The lead investigator's decision to discard a damaged rifle scope involved in the 

robberies was made under the good faith belief that the scope was of no value to its owner and 

that its evidentiary value had been exhausted when he "fumed" in an effort to detect fingerprints. 

The State did not rely on the scope or any scientific/forensic evidence at trial, but instead relied 

on witness testimony concerning the events. In view of these facts and the low likelihood that the 

scope would have revealed probative DNA or other evidence had it been retained, the Circuit 

Court did not err in declining to give a jury instruction regarding permissible inferences arising 

from the scope's unavailability. 

3 "AR" refers to the Rule 7(e) Appendix filed by Petitioner. 
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Petitioner's conviction for robbery in the first degree as to each of Robert, Michael and 

William Basore was proper and does not violate double jeopardy principles even though only 

property belonging to Robert Basore was taken during the offenses. The Basores were common 

residents of the dwelling house in which the crime occurred; each held a possessory and 

ownership right to personal property within the dwelling superior to that of the accused; and the 

property was taken from the presence of each. Robbery in the first degree is a crime against the 

person, and the fact that these persons were robbed within their dwelling house distinguishes this 

case from convenience store robbery cases such as State v. Collins and State v. Myers. 

The admission of photographs of the crime scene and victims that depicted a substantial 

amount of blood was not error. The photographs were relevant to issues such as the force and 

violence used to carry out the crime and to explain the victims' testimony. The Circuit Court 

correctly found the photographs to constitute "pretty mild stuff," consistent with the absence of 

unfair prejudice to this Petitioner. 

Finally, Petitioner's contention that the Berkeley County assistant prosecuting attorney 

who tried the case should have been disqualified as a result of a public statement made in 

connection with a co-defendant's plea a week before trial is without merit. The prosecutor's 

comments merely explained the State's basis for entering into a plea agreement and generally 

referred to facts available in the public record. The public statements fail to demonstrate any 

reason to believe the prosecutor's objectivity or impartiality was compromised so as to warrant 

disqualification. 
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IV. 	 STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION 

The facts and legal arguments pertinent to this appeal are adequately presented in the 

briefs and appellate record, and the decisional process would not be significantly aided by oral 

argument. To the extent the Court may conclude that the resolution of this matter would be aided 

by oral argument, a Rule 20 argument is potentially appropriate in light of Petitioner's double 

jeopardy claim, the State's response and the fact that companion appeals filed by Petitioner's co

defendants are or will be pending. 

V. ARGUMENT 

A. 	 The Evidence at Trial, Viewed in the Light Most Favorable to the State, Was 
Sufficient to Allow a Rational Trier of Fact to Find the Essential Elements of 
Petitioner's Crimes Were Proven Beyond a Reasonable Doubt 

The evidence of Petitioner's guilt, which is based on witness testimony and 

circumstantial evidence, clearly supports his convictions. There is no basis to reverse the Circuit 

Court's judgment based on an allegation of insufficient evidence. 

This Court's function when reviewing the sufficiency of the evidence to support a 

criminal conviction is to examine the evidence admitted at trial to determine whether such 

evidence, if believed, is sufficient to convince a reasonable person of the defendant's guilt 

beyond a reasonable doubt. The relevant inquiry is whether, after viewing the evidence in the 

light most favorable to the prosecution, any rational trier of fact could have found the essential 

elements of the crime proved beyond a reasonable doubt. Syl. Pt. 1, State v. Guthrie, 194 W.Va. 

657,461 S.E.2d 163 (1995). Guthrie overturned past case law holding that when the State relies 

on circumstantial evidence, in whole or in part, all other reasonable hypotheses needed to be 

excluded by the prosecution save that of guilt in order for a court to sustain the verdict. State v. 
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Guthrie, 194 W.Va. at 668, 461 S.E.2d at 174. Instead, this Court concluded that there should be 

only one standard of proof in criminal cases - proof beyond a reasonable doubt. Accordingly, 

once a proper instruction is given advising the jury as to the State's burden under the guilt 

beyond a reasonable doubt standard, an additional instruction on circumstantial evidence is no 

longer required even if the State relies wholly on circumstantial evidence. Syl. Pt. 2, State v. 

Guthrie, supra. 

A criminal defendant challenging the sufficiency of the evidence to support a conviction 

takes on a heavy burden. This Court must review all the evidence, whether direct or 

circumstantial, in the light most favorable to the prosecution and must credit all inferences and 

credibility assessments that the jury might have drawn in favor of the prosecution. The evidence 

need not be inconsistent with every conclusion save that of guilt so long as the jury can find guilt 

beyond a reasonable doubt. Credibility determinations are for a jury and not this Court. Finally, a 

jury verdict should be set aside only when the record contains no evidence, regardless of how it 

is weighed, from which the jury could find guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. Syl. Pt. 3, State v. 

Guthrie, supra. 

Petitioner's Brief addresses the adequacy of the evidence without reference to the trial 

transcripts themselves. While Petitioner focuses on evidence and potential inferences he sought 

to rely upon for his defense at trial, his argument before this Court avoids the evidence and 

inferences that jurors were permitted to consider in rendering guilty verdicts. Based on the 

evidence presented at trial, the jury below could rationally and reasonably find as follows: 

• 	 the Basore home was located in a rural, somewhat remote area of Berkeley County; 

• 	 Robert Basore testified that on the evening of the robberies, a masked intruder began 

beating him and "hollering for me to tell him where my safe was," a request that Mr. 
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Basore resisted, 8AR V3, Tr. (04/27/2016) at 152, 161; 

• 	 the intruders took Mr. Basore's wallet containing about $250 in cash, a toolbox 

containing "old money," and a .22 rifle, SAR V3, Tr. (04/27/2016) at 152, see also SAR 

V3, Tr. (04/27/2016) at 172-75; 

• 	 Michael Basore testified that two masked men barged into the home where he resided 

with his father and brother and began beating them with metal rods, SAR V 4, Tr. 

(04/28/2016) at 89-91; 

• 	 Michael Basore described attempting to get up to help his father, and being struck every 

time he tried to do so, SAR V4, Tr. (04/28/2016) at 92; 

• 	 the intruders also beat and subdued William Basore, SAR V4, Tr. (0412812016) at 58; 

• 	 at the time of the robberies, Petitioner was the boyfriend of Tatianna Etheridge, SAR V5, 

Tr. (04/29/2016) at 12-13, and they were living together at a Motel 6 in Hagerstown, 

Maryland, SAR V5, Tr. (04/29/2016) at 21; 

• 	 a week or two before the robberies occurred, Petitioner traveled to the Basore home with 

co-defendant Sherry Basore4 (the daughter of William Basore and granddaughter of 

Robert Basore), Tatianna Etheridge and two other men, SAR V4, Tr. (04/28/2016) at 39

42, SAR V5, Tr. (04/29/2016) at 25-26; 

• 	 the purpose of the visit was for Sherry Basore to get mail from her father and borrow 

money from her grandfather, Robert Basore, to buy drugs, SAR V4, Tr. (04/28/2016) at 

40,43, 8AR V5, Tr. (04/29/2016) at 26; 

• 	 during the trip to the Basore residence, Sherry Basore revealed that her grandfather had 

4 Sherry Basore was indicted along with Petitioner, Jonathan Physioc and Kerri Reigh. Ms. Basore entered a plea of 
guilty to the misdemeanor charge of conspiracy to commit petit larceny in exchange for her agreement testify at the 
trial of her three co-defendants See, e.g., AR at 13. It is evident from the trial transcript that Ms. Basore was a very 
reluctant witness. SAR V4, Tr. (04/28/2016) at 23-24,37-56. 
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just sold some land and had $80,000 in his house, SAR V5, Tr. (04/29/2016) at 27; 

• 	 there was conflicting testimony as to whether Petitioner actually entered the Basore home 

during this visit, cf SAR V3, Tr. (04/27/2016) at 186-87; SAR V4, Tr. (04128/2016) at 

44,47, 100; SAR V5, Tr. (04/29/2016) at 28-29; 

• 	 when Sherry Basore was later "dope-sick" (i.e., experiencing heroin withdrawal) and 

desiring heroin from Petitioner to make her feel better, Ms. Basore gave Petitioner details 

regarding the Basore home and suggested that he go take Robert Basore's safe, SAR V5, 

Tr. (04/29/2016) at 29-34; 

• 	 in the early morning hours of May 8, 2015 (Le., the morning after the robberies), 

Petitioner told Ms. Etheridge by telephone that "they just hit a lick," i.e .., committed 

some wrongdoing, SAR V5, Tr. (04/29/2016) at 12-l3; 

• 	 during the telephone call, Petitioner asked Ms. Etheridge for money because he needed it 

"to get out of town", SAR V5, Tr. (04/29/2016) at 12-l3; 

• 	 about 25-30 minutes after that telephone call, Petitioner and his two co-defendants met 

Ms. Etheridge at Lust Nightclub, where Ms. Etheridge worked; SAR V5, Tr. 

(04/29/2016) at l3; 

• 	 when Ms. Etheridge gave Petitioner money, he again told Ms. Etheridge ''that they hit a 

lick and they needed to get out of town and they didn't get anything because Johnny 

[Physioc] fucked it up," SAR V5, Tr. (04/29/2016) at l3, 19; 

• 	 Petitioner further explained that "Johnny grabbed the wrong safe," SAR V5, Tr. 

(04/29/2016) at 19; 

• 	 at the time, Petitioner and his co-defendants were traveling together in a large pickup 

truck, SAR V5, Tr. (04129/2016) at 20; 
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• the following day, Petitioner told Ms. Etheridge "[t]hat he tried everything he could to get 

the safe from the guy, but they had to beat him to be able to get anything," SAR V5, Tr. 

(04/29/2016) at 22; 

• 	 Petitioner further admitted to Ms. Etheridge that there were three victims - Sherry 

Basore's grandfather, father and uncle, SAR V5, Tr. (04/29/2016) at 23-24; 

• 	 Days later, Ms. Etheridge observed co-defendant Reigh in possession of old coins 

consistent with those described as stolen from the Basore home. SAR V5, Tr. 

(04/29/2016) at 34, 41-42. 

With respect to Ms. Etheridge, the jury could reasonably find that: 

• 	 Ms. Etheridge testified candidly, including admitting to her drug usage (see, e.g., SAR 

V5, Tr. (04/29/2016) at 69) and other potentially embarrassing facts; 

• 	 Ms. Etheridge initially disclosed information to law enforcement at the request of the 

police; she did not seek out a reward or any other benefit, SAR V5, Tr. (04/29/2016) at 

209; 

• 	 Ms. Etheridge's disclosure of information was made well before entering into a plea 

agreement resolving certain crimes in exchange for her truthful trial testimony, see, e.g., 

SAR V5, Tr. (04/29/2016) at 77; 

• 	 When Ms. Etheridge made her initial disclosure to law enforcement, she had knowledge 

of many factual details that were not generally known or available, indicating that she 

had communicated with one or more persons who committed the crimes SAR V5, Tr. 

(04/29/2016) at 212-13; and 

• 	 Ms. Etheridge's testimony regarding Petitioner's prior visit to the Basore home, SAR V5, 

Tr. (04/29/2016) at 26-29, was consistent with the independent recollection and 
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testimony of the Basores. SAR V3, Tr. (04/27/2016) at 186-87; SAR V4, Tr. 

(04/28/2016) at 100. 

Considering all of the evidence, direct and circumstantial, in the light most favorable to 

the State and giving credit to all inferences and credibility assessments that the jury might have 

drawn in favor of the State, it is apparent that a rational trier of fact could have found (and did 

find), beyond a reasonable doubt, that the essential elements of each crime for which Petitioner 

was charged were proven. 

B. 	 Petitioner Was Not Entitled to an Adverse Inference Instruction Where the State's 
Lead Investigator Discarded a Rifle Scope That Was Damaged, Had No Evidentiary 
Value and Was Not Relied Upon by the State at Trial 

Although the State's lead investigator discarded a damaged rifle scope associated with 

Petitioner's crime, an adverse inference instruction to the jury regarding its loss was not 

warranted. The scope was discarded based on the good faith belief that the damaged scope had 

no value to its owners and, after being "fumed" in a failed attempt to identify fingerprints, had no 

further evidentiary value. The State's proof at trial was based on witness testimony rather than 

forensic evidence, and there is no reason to believe the scope had any exculpatory value. The 

Circuit Court correctly elected not to give Petitioner's requested jury instruction addressing 

inferences to be drawn from the State's loss of evidence. 

It is well-settled that instructions must be based upon the evidence and an instruction not 

supported by the evidence should not be given. Syl. Pt. 4, State v. Kester Collins, 154 W.Va. 

771, 180 S.E.2d 54 (1971). An evaluation of the denial of the instruction Petitioner claims should 

have been given requires an analysis of the law addressing the State's loss of or failure to 

preserve evidence. The determination of consequences for the State's loss of evidence is 

governed by Syllabus Point 2 of State v. Osakalumi, 194 W.Va. 758,461 S.E.2d 504 (1995), 
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which states: 

When the State had or should have had evidence requested 
by a criminal defendant but the evidence no longer exists when the 
defendant seeks its production, a trial court must determine (1) 
whether the requested material, if in the possession of the State at 
the time of the defendant's request for it, would have been subject 
to disclosure under either West Virginia Rule of Criminal 
Procedure or case law; (2) whether the State had a duty to 
preserve the material; and (3) if the State did have a duty to 
preserve the material, whether the duty was breached and what 
consequences should flow from the breach. In determining what 
consequences should flow from the State's breach of its duty to 
preserve evidence, a trial court should consider (1) the degree of 
negligence or bad faith involved; (2) the importance of the missing 
evidence considering the probative value and reliability of 
secondary or substitute evidence that remains available; and (3) the 
sufficiency of the other evidence produced at the trial to sustain the 
conviction. 

The State acknowledges that the scope was discoverable, could potentially have been 

kept and maintained but was discarded because it had no evidentiary value and because, being in 

a damaged state, it was of no use to the victims. An analysis of the facts and circumstances 

confirms that the Circuit Court correctly declined to issue a jury instruction addressing the loss 

of this evidence. 

Deputy Philip Butcher testified that he and Deputy McGee were the first law enforcement 

officers to arrive at the Basore residence, and that when they pulled into the driveway, he 

observed a black rifle scope laying in the driveway. SAR V4, Tr (04/28/2016) at 150. It was 

determined soon thereafter that the scope had been attached to a .22 rifle that was taken during 

the robbery. Deputy Butcher advised the lead investigator, Deputy Michael St. Clair, of the scope 

upon his arrival. SAR V5, Tr. (04/29/2016) at 181. Deputy St. Clair testified that in an effort to 

identify fingerprints, he "fumed" the scope - a process that involved placing the scope in an 

enclosure with a heating element and a container of a Super Glue-like material; heating the 
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material and observing whether it attached to moisture associated with fingerprints. SAR V5, Tr. 

(04/29/2016) at 181-83. However, nothing of evidentiary value was gleaned from this process. 

SAR V5, Tr. (04/29/2016) at 183. 

On cross-exan1ination of Deputy St. Clair, Petitioner's counsel further explored this 

testing and established that DNA testing had not been performed. SAR V5, Tr. (04/29/2016) at 

245-51. In the course of this questioning, Deputy St. Clair testified that he discarded the scope 

after fuming it because the scope had been damaged, had revealed no fingerprints after "fuming" 

and he did not believe DNA testing could have been performed thereafter. SAR V5, Tr. 

(04129/2016) at 249-51. On redirect, Deputy St. Clair further explained that because the Super 

Glue-like vapor used in the "fuming" process would have adhered to the scope, it would have 

coated any DNA evidence that might have been present. SAR V5, Tr. (04129/2016) at 278-79. 

Petitioner's Brief does not quote and his Rule 7(e) Appendix does not contain the 

proposed jury instruction that Petitioner contends should have been given. However, the trial 

transcript addresses the Circuit Court's consideration of the request. SAR V6, Tr. (05/02/2016) at 

13-27. The State correctly argued that the scope was not material to the issues in the case. The 

scope was not significant to the State's proof, nor was it material to defense strategy of attacking 

the testimony of Totianna Etheridge. SAR V6, Tr. (05/02/2016) at 18-20. Rather, the defense 

was merely speculating that DNA or perhaps fiber evidence might have been found had the 

scope been available for inspection and evaluation. SAR V6, Tr. (05/0212016) at 23-24. The 

Circuit Court was of the opinion that the investigator's choice to attempt to obtain fingerprints 

was a logical one. SAR V6, Tr. (05/02/2016) at 25-26. Consistent with Deputy St. Clair's 

testimony that the "fuming" would have coated any evidence present on the scope, SAR V5, Tr. 

(04/29/2016) at 278-79, the Circuit Court observed that this method would "not leave something 
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in very good condition." SAR V6, Tr. (05/02/2016) at 26. Accordingly, the Circuit Court wisely 

concluded that it would be unfair to utilize an instruction that would draw attention to a matter 

that was not among the central, material issues in the case. SAR V6, Tr. (05/02/2016) at 26. 

The Circuit Court's analysis was appropriate. In a variety of contexts, this Court has 

opined that the State's loss of or failure to preserve evidence did not warrant consequences in 

light of (a) the degree of negligence or bad faith involved; (2) the importance of the missing 

evidence considering the probative value and reliability of secondary or substitute evidence that 

remains available; and (3) the sufficiency of the other evidence produced at trial.

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